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December 21, 2021 

 
Via EDIS 
 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street SW 
Washington, DC 20436 

 

 
Re: Certain Automated Put Walls and Automated Storage and Retrieval 

Systems, Associated Vehicles, Associated Control Software, and 
Component Parts Thereof 

 
Dear Secretary Barton: 

Enclosed for filing on behalf of Complainant OPEX Corporation (“OPEX”), please find 
the following documents in support of OPEX’s request that the Commission commence an 
Investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended.  Pursuant to the 
Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, a request for confidential treatment of Confidential 
Exhibit 31C is included with this submission.   

In accordance with the Commission’s Temporary Change to the Filing Procedures dated 
March 16, 2020 (“Temporary Procedures”), and the guidance provided on the Commission’s 
“COVID-19-RELATED QUESTIONS” webpage, OPEX submits the following documents for 
filing via EDIS: 

1. A Statement on the Public Interest with respect to the remedial orders OPEX seeks in the 
Complaint, pursuant to Commission Rule 210.8(b); 

2. One (1) electronic copy of OPEX’s Verified Complaint, pursuant to Commission Rule 
210.8(a)(l)(i)); 

3. One (1) electronic copy of the non-confidential exhibits to the Complaint, pursuant to 
Commission Rule 210.8(a)(l)(i); 

4. One (1) electronic copy of the confidential exhibits to the Complaint, pursuant to 
Commission Rules 201.6(c) and 210.8(a)(l)(ii); 
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5. One (1) electronic certified copy of United States Patent Nos. 8,104,601; 8,276,740;
8,622,194; 10,576,505; and 11,192,1441, included with the Complaint as Exhibits 1-5,
pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(i);

6. One (1) electronic certified copy of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office prosecution
histories for United States Patent Nos. 8,104,601; 8,276,740; 8,622,194; 10,576,505; and
11,192,144, included with the Complaint as Appendices A-E, pursuant to Commission
Rule 210.12(C)(1);

7. One (1) electronic certified copy of the Assignment Records for United States Patent Nos.
8,104,601; 8,276,740; 8,622,194; 10,576,505; and 11,192,144, included with the
Complaint as Exhibits 6-10, pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(ii);

8. One (1) electronic copy of each technical reference cited in the prosecution history for
United States Patent Nos. 8,104,601; 8,276,740; 8,622,194; 10,576,505; and 11,192,144,
included with the Complaint as Appendices F-K, pursuant to Commission Rule
210.12(c)(2); and

9. A letter and certification requesting confidential treatment for the information contained in
Confidential Exhibit 31C to the Complaint, pursuant to Commission Rules 201.6(b) and
210.5(d).

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please contact me should you have any
questions concerning this submission. 

Very truly yours, 

David J. Shaw 
Counsel for Complainant OPEX Corp. 

1 The attached copies of U.S. Patent No. 11,192,144 and its assignment records and file history 
are not certified copies.  OPEX will provide certified copies once it receives them. 
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Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.8(b), OPEX Corporation (“OPEX”) submits this Statement on 

the Public Interest with respect to the remedial orders it seeks against Respondents HC Robotics 

and Invata, LLC (all individually or collectively, “Respondent(s)”). 

I. THE REQUESTED REMEDIES WILL HAVE NO ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE 
PUBLIC INTEREST 

The Commission balances any potentially adverse effect on the public interest against the 

public’s interest in protecting and enforcing intellectual property rights.  See Certain Inclined-

Field Acceleration Tubes and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-67, Comm’n Op., 1980 ITC 

LEXIS 118, at *34-35 (Dec. 1980).  Only if the negative effect on the public interest outweighs 

the damage to the patent holder’s rights and the public interest in enforcing those rights may the 

Commission deny the requested relief.  Id.  Here, the potential damage to OPEX’s rights outweighs 

any potential adverse effect on the public interest. 

The public interest in protecting intellectual property rights is very strong.  Certain 

Broadband Processor Chips and Chipsets, Transmitter and Receiver (Radio) Chips, Power 

Control Chips, Inv. No. 337-TA-543, Comm’n Op., 2007 ITC LEXIS 621, at *240 (June 19, 

2007).  This public interest is born out of the desire to incentivize innovators, such as OPEX, to 

disclose their technology in exchange for the statutory right to exclude others, and “[t]he 

importation of any infringing merchandise derogates from the statutory right, diminishes the value 

of the intellectual property, and thus indirectly harms the public interest.”  Id. at *219 (quoting S. 

Rep. 100-71 at 128-129).  Thus, the Commission almost never denies relief on public interest 

grounds.  Id. at *240.  The few instances where the Commission has denied relief involve facts not 

present here, namely, where “inadequate supply within the United States—by both the patentee 

and domestic licensees—meant that an exclusion order would deprive the public of products 
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necessary for some important health or welfare need….”  Spansion, Inc. v. ITC, 629 F.3d 1331, 

1360 (Fed. Cir. 2010). 

Here, the requested remedial orders are not contrary to the public interest because: (1) the 

subject articles are warehouse automation products that do not implicate national energy crises or 

national security interests, and are not medical devices, pharmaceuticals, vaccines, or otherwise 

health-related and (2) OPEX and various third parties make and sell in the U.S., products that could 

replace the subject articles, and could increase their manufacturing capacities to do so in a 

commercially reasonable time.  Thus, there is a strong public interest in protecting OPEX’s 

intellectual property and no countervailing adverse effects to outweigh that public interest. 

A. How the Articles Subject to the Requested Remedies are Used in the U.S. 

The subject articles in this investigation are Respondents’ automated put walls and 

automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control software, and 

component parts thereof.  These products are scalable robotic sorting and picking systems that 

allow quick and accurate processing of hundreds or thousands of items in storage and order-

fulfillment contexts such as warehouses. 

B. Public Health, Safety, or Welfare Concerns Related to the Requested 
Remedies 

The issuance of a limited exclusion order and cease and desist orders against the 

Respondents would have no material effect on the public health, safety, or welfare in the U.S.  An 

exclusion order encompassing the subject articles would not implicate national energy crises or 

national security interests.  Nor are the subject articles in this investigation medical devices, 

pharmaceuticals, vaccines, or otherwise health-related. 
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C. Like or Directly Competitive Articles of Complainant, its Licensees, or Third 
Parties Make that Could Replace the Subject Articles 

Complainant OPEX manufactures and sells in the U.S., multiple products that could 

replace Respondents’ subject articles, including OPEX’s Sure Sort® and Sure Sort® XL products 

(with associated iBOT vehicles) and OPEX’s Perfect Pick® and Perfect Pick® HD products (with 

associated iBOT vehicles).  Third parties such as Berkshire Grey, Beumer, Eurosort, Honeywell 

Intelligrated, and Warehouse Automation AI also sell products in the U.S. that could replace 

Respondents’ subject articles. 

D. Whether Complainant, its Licensees, or Third Parties Have the Capacity to 
Replace the Volume of Articles Subject to the Requested Remedies in a 
Commercially Reasonable Time in the United States 

Complainant OPEX has the capacity to replace the volume of Respondents’ subject articles 

via a modest increase in manufacturing throughput for OPEX’s Sure Sort® product (with 

associated iBOT vehicles) and OPEX’s Perfect Pick® and Perfect Pick® HD products (with 

associated iBOT vehicles).  To the best of OPEX’s current knowledge, information, and belief, 

Respondents have only sold and/or installed a handful (i.e., less than approximately 10) subject 

articles in the United States to date.  OPEX could increase manufacturing capacity to meet that 

level of increased demand with its existing facilities and workforce in a commercially reasonable 

time.  To the best of OPEX’s current knowledge, information, and belief, the aforementioned third 

parties could also increase their manufacturing capacity to meet that level of increased demand in 

a commercially reasonable time. 

E. How the Requested Remedies Would Impact Consumers 

It is unlikely that consumers would experience any impact from the requested remedies.  

Since, as discussed above, Respondents’ subject articles do not implicate any public health, safety, 

or welfare concerns, their exclusion will not create any public interest concerns.  And as also 
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discussed above, consumers would not be deprived of like or directly competitive products.  Due 

to the availability of such alternatives, negative economic outcomes from the requested remedial 

orders are also unlikely.  Regardless, negative economic outcomes, as opposed to negative public 

health, safety, and welfare outcomes, do not outweigh the strong public interest in protecting 

OPEX’s intellectual property rights.  See, e.g., Certain Lens-Fitted Film Packages, Inv. No. 337-

TA-406, Comm’n. Op., 1999 lTC LEXIS 202 at *40 (June 28, 1999) (price increase insufficient 

to warrant preclusion of remedy under public interest analysis).  Thus, any potential effect on the 

public interest from the exclusion of Respondents’ infringing products would be minimal at most. 

II. CONCLUSION

The subject articles are not necessary to any public health, safety, or welfare need, and an

adequate supply of like or directly competitive devices is available.  As such, the strong public 

interest in protecting OPEX’s intellectual property rights outweighs any potential adverse public 

interest effects from the requested remedial orders. 

December 21, 2021 Respectfully submitted, 

_____________________________________ 
Paul Bondor 
Ryan Dowell 
Desmarais LLP 
230 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10169 
Telephone: 212-351-3400 
Facsimile: 212-351-3401 

Goutam Patnaik 
David J. Shaw 
Desmarais LLP 
1701 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Suite 200 
Washington, DC 20006 
Telephone: 202-451-4900 
Facsimile: 202-451-4901 

/s/ David J. Shaw
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David J. Shaw 
Washington, DC 

Direct: 202-451-4913 
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December 21, 2021 

Via Hand Delivery 

The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street SW 
Washington, DC 20436 

Re: Certain Automated Put Walls and Automated Storage and Retrieval 
Systems, Associated Vehicles, Associated Control Software, and 
Component Parts Thereof 

Dear Secretary Barton: 

Desmarais LLP represents Complainant OPEX Corporation (“OPEX”) in the matter of the 
above referenced Complaint filed pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 
19 U.S.C. § 1337. 

Pursuant to Commission Rules 201.6(b) and 210.5(d), OPEX respectfully requests 
confidential treatment of the information contained in its Confidential Exhibit 31C.  The 
information contained in this exhibit qualifies as confidential information pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 
201.6 in that it discloses proprietary commercial information, proprietary commercial 
relationships, and/or proprietary business information that is not otherwise publicly available, and 
because the disclosure of such information would cause substantial harm to OPEX, and would also 
impair the Commission’s ability to obtain such information in the performance of its statutory 
function in the future. 

I certify that the proprietary commercial information, proprietary commercial 
relationships, and/or proprietary business information contained in Confidential Exhibit 31C is not 
reasonably available to the public, and thus warrants confidential treatment. 

Very truly yours, 

David J. Shaw 
Counsel for Complainant OPEX Corp. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Complainant OPEX Corporation (“OPEX”) files this complaint pursuant to Section 

337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“Section 337”).  OPEX respectfully 

requests that the United States International Trade Commission (the “Commission”) institute an 

investigation relating to the unlawful sale for importation into the United States, importation into 

the United States, and or sale within the United States after importation of certain automated put 

walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control 

software, and component parts thereof. 

2. The Respondents are HC Robotics (a.k.a., Huicang Information Technology Co., 

Ltd.) (“HC Robotics”) and Invata, LLC (d/b/a, Invata Intralogistics) (“Invata”) (all individually or 

collectively, “Respondent(s)”). 

3. Respondents, on information and belief, have violated and continue to violate 

Section 337 through the sale for importation, importation, and/or the sale within the United States 

after importation of certain automated put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, 

associated vehicles, associated control software, and component parts thereof that infringe OPEX’s 

United States Patent No. 8,104,601 (Exhibit 1, the “’601 Patent”), United States Patent No. 

8,276,740 (Exhibit 2, the “’740 Patent”), United States Patent No. 8,622,194 (Exhibit 3, the “’194 

Patent”), United States Patent No. 10,576,505 (Exhibit 4, the “’505 Patent”), and United States 

Patent No. 11,192,144 (Exhibit 5, the “’144 Patent”) (all individually or collectively, the “Asserted 

Patent(s)”), to the detriment of OPEX’s domestic industry that exists in the United States relating 

to articles protected by the Asserted Patents. 

4. OPEX asserts that Respondents infringe at least the following claims of the 

Asserted Patents: 
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Asserted Patent Asserted Claims 

United States Patent No. 8,104,601 1-28 

United States Patent No. 8,276,740 1-5, 8-25 

United States Patent No. 8,622,194 1-10, 12-17, 19, 20 

United States Patent No. 10,576,505 1-5, 7-9, 11-21 

United States Patent No. 11,192,144 1-19 
 

5. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(12), OPEX’s clear statement in plain 

English of the categories of subject articles is as follows:   

6. An automated put wall is a system that sorts items faster, more accurately, and with 

less labor than a traditional put wall.  In a typical automated put wall, an item to be sorted is 

inducted into the put wall, scanned, and correlated to a specific sort location on the wall itself.  The 

item is then transferred onto a robotic vehicle that can move along a track to and from the sort 

locations on the put wall under direction from control software that runs the system.  The 

appropriate sort location for the inducted item is transmitted to the robotic vehicle, which then 

moves along the track to the appropriate sort location and deposits the item before returning to the 

induction location to receive another item.  A typical automated put wall may be scalable, in both 

the number of robotic vehicles and the number of sort locations.  OPEX’s Sure Sort® and Sure 

Sort® XL products are examples of automated put walls, and OPEX’s iBOT® vehicles are an 

example of the aforementioned robotic vehicles. 

7. An automated storage and retrieval system employs similar operational principals 

as an automated put wall.  However, an automated storage and retrieval system typically operates 

on heavier loads such as totes full of items, rather than on individual items.  Additionally, an 

automated storage and retrieval system often employs higher-density sort locations—i.e., rows or 
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columns that are multiple-sort-locations deep.  Like an automated put wall, a typical automated 

storage and retrieval system may be scalable, in both the number of robotic vehicles and the 

number of sort locations. 

8. Due to the size and weight of a typical automated put wall or automated storage 

and retrieval system, it is impractical to manufacture and then ship the fully assembled product.  

Rather, these products typically comprise multiple individual “modules” that are manufactured 

and shipped to a customer site, where the modules are assembled in place to create the full 

automated put wall or automated storage and retrieval system.         

9. Thus, the subject articles in this investigation include: Respondents’ automated put 

walls and automated storage and retrieval systems—such as Respondents’ Omnisort product; 

Respondents’ vehicles associated with Respondents’ automated put walls and automated storage 

and retrieval systems—such as the vehicles associated with Respondents’ Omnisort product; 

Respondents’ control software associated with Respondents’ automated put walls and automated 

storage and retrieval systems—such as the control software associated with Respondents’ 

Omnisort product; and Respondents’ component parts of Respondents’ automated put walls and 

automated storage and retrieval systems—such as the component parts and modules of 

Respondents’ Omnisort product. 

10. To remedy Respondents’ continuing and unlawful violation of Section 337, OPEX 

seeks as permanent relief a limited exclusion order pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1), barring 

from entry into the United States all of Respondents’ automated put walls and automated storage 

and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control software, and component parts 

thereof that infringe at least one valid, enforceable claim of at least one Asserted Patent.  OPEX 

also seeks cease and desist orders pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f) prohibiting Respondents from 
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engaging in the importation into the United States and/or the sale within the United States after 

importation of automated put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, associated 

vehicles, associated control software, and component parts thereof that infringe at least one valid, 

enforceable claim of at least one Asserted Patent, as well as all activities encouraging, supporting 

and/or otherwise related to such importation and/or sale.  Finally, OPEX requests that the 

Commission impose a bond upon Respondents’ importation of infringing automated put walls and 

automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control software, and 

component parts thereof during the 60-day Presidential review period, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 

1337(j), to prevent further injury to OPEX’s domestic industry relating to articles protected by the 

Asserted Patents. 

II. THE PARTIES 

A. Complainant 

11. Complainant OPEX is a privately-held, family-owned and operated corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of New Jersey, with its principal place of 

business located at 305 Commerce Drive, Moorestown, NJ 08057. 

12. Founded in New Jersey in 1973 and purchased by the Stevens family with just eight 

(8) employees in 1975, OPEX is an American success story.  In its 48 years of operations, OPEX 

has grown to over 1,400 employees in seven countries across the world, including approximately 

1,300 U.S.-based employees located in one of OPEX’s seven domestic facilities or located 

remotely in the U.S.   

13. Today, OPEX is a recognized global leader delivering state-of-the-art warehouse 

automation technologies, document imaging platforms, and high-speed mailroom automation.  

Since 1973, OPEX systems have provided performance-enhancing workflow solutions and cost-

effective results to thousands of organizations worldwide.  OPEX’s satisfied customer list includes 
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fulfillment operations, distribution centers, financial services, healthcare, government, utilities, 

service bureaus, insurance and educational institutions. 

14. OPEX currently has approximately 45 in-force United States utility and design 

patents and nearly 200 worldwide in-force patents related to its unique, innovative automated 

material sorting technology.  

15. OPEX currently operates two product divisions—Warehouse Automation (“WA”) 

and Document and Mail Automation (“DMA”).  This investigation relates to OPEX’s Warehouse 

Automation division and products. 

B. Respondents 

16. OPEX alleges the following regarding Respondents upon information and belief: 

1. HC Robotics (a.k.a., Huicang Information Technology Co., Ltd.) 

17. Respondent HC Robotics is a company organized and existing under the laws of 

the People’s Republic of China, with its principal place of business located at 3rd Floor, Haiwei 

Building, No. 101 Binkang Road, Binjiang District, Hangzhou City, Zheijang Province, China.  

(See, e.g., Ex. 18 (building name misspelled).) 

18. HC Robotics manufactures warehouse automation products, such as its modular, 

high-speed, three-dimensional storage and sorting system—Omnisort.  HC Robotics sells for 

importation into the U.S., imports into the U.S., and/or sells in the U.S. after importation, certain 

automated put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated 

control software, and component parts thereof, including the Omnisort product and its individual 

modules.  Specifically, for example, HC Robotics manufactures the Omnisort product and modules 

in China and imports them into the U.S.  (See, e.g., Ex. 18.) 
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2. Invata, LLC (d/b/a, Invata Intralogistics) 

19. Respondent Invata, LLC is a limited liability company organized and existing under 

the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, with its principal place of business located at 

1010 Spring Mill Avenue, Suite 300, Conshohocken, PA 19428.  (See, e.g., Ex. 18.) 

20. Invata designs, build, controls, and supports intralogistics systems such as 

warehouse automation, distribution, and returns processing solutions.  Invata’s designs often 

incorporate third party component products, such as the Omnisort.  Invata sells for importation 

into the U.S., imports into the U.S., and/or sells in the U.S. after importation, certain automated 

put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control 

software, and component parts thereof, including the Omnisort product and modules.  Specifically, 

for example, Invata receives imported Omnisort products and modules from China (see, e.g., Ex. 

18) and sells them in the U.S. as a distributor and/or reseller of the Omnisort (see, e.g., Ex. 32). 

III. THE ASSERTED PATENTS 

21. OPEX’s Asserted Patents generally relate to automated material sorting, including 

systems and methods for automated sorting of items and materials, such as items stored in a 

warehouse, distribution center, or fulfillment center. 

22. At the priority date of OPEX’s Asserted Patents, many large organizations had 

extensive storage areas in which numerous items, documents, and/or mail pieces were stored.  

Sorting and retrieving such materials from these vast storage areas required significant labor to 

perform manually, and known systems of automatically handling such materials were either very 

expensive, had limitations that hampered their effectiveness, or both.  The most significant 

drawbacks of the known systems were cost and size. 

23. In response to the growing need for efficient, automated, material handling, OPEX 

designed a new, elegant, and effective solution to these and other problems in the art.  Specifically, 
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OPEX’s inventors devised novel, easily scalable methods and systems for automated material 

handling, which includes a plurality of destination areas, such as bins, and a plurality of delivery 

vehicles for delivering items to the destination areas along a track.  Various embodiments of 

OPEX’s inventions include further improvements over the prior art or solutions to the problems in 

the prior art. 

A. U.S. Patent No. 8,104,601 

24. The ’601 Patent, titled “Method and apparatus for delivering items to destination 

areas,” is properly assigned to OPEX. 

25. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.12(a)(9)(i)-(ii), certified copies of the ’601 

Patent and the assignment records for the ’601 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 1 and 6, 

respectively.1 

26. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(l), Appendix A contains one certified copy 

of the PTO prosecution history for the ’601 Patent plus three additional copies thereof. 

27. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Appendix F contains four copies of 

each patent mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’601 Patent.  There are no non-patent 

technical references mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’601 patent. 

28. The ’601 Patent was filed on January 3, 2011, issued on January 31, 2012, and 

expires on January 14, 2028.  The ’601 Patent is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, filed 

on January 14, 2008.  The ’601 Patent claims priority to U.S. Provisional Application No. 

60/884,766, filed on January 12, 2007. 

                                                 
1 The assignment of the original application in the family, which ultimately matured into U.S. 
Patent No. 7,861,844, operates to assign OPEX the rights to all subsequent applications and 
resulting patents in the family, including all of the Asserted Patents.  A certified copy of the 
assignment records for the ’844 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 33.  
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29. The ’601 Patent has 28 claims, including three independent claims (claims 1, 11, 

21) and 25 dependent claims.  OPEX asserts claims 1-28 of the ’601 Patent against Respondents. 

1. Non-Technical Description of the ’601 Patent 

30. The ’601 Patent provides methods and apparatuses for sorting items to a plurality 

of sort destinations.  The items are loaded onto one of a plurality of independently controlled 

delivery vehicles.  The delivery vehicles follow a track that guides the delivery vehicles to the sort 

destinations, which are positioned along the track.  Once at the appropriate sort destination, the 

delivery vehicle ejects the item to the sort destination and returns to receive another item to be 

delivered. 

2. Foreign Counterparts to the ’601 Patent 

31. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the following is a list of foreign 

counterparts relating to the ’601 Patent that are currently known to OPEX, whether issued, filed, 

denied, abandoned, or withdrawn: 
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Country Local Filing 
Date 

Local Appln. 
Number Status Local Patent 

Number 
Austria 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 

Case E754871 
Australia 01/14/2008 2008206361 Abandoned  
Australia 01/14/2008 2014216046 Patented 

Case 2014216046 

Australia 01/14/2008 2017202367 Patented 
Case 2017202367 

Australia 01/14/2008 2019206044 Patented 
Case 2019206044 

Australia 02/11/2021 2021200886 Active  
Belgium 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 

Case 2,121,204 

Brazil 01/14/2008 PI 0806564-0 Patented 
Case PI 0806564-0 

Canada 01/14/2008 2673932 Patented 
Case 2673932 

Germany 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 60 2008 040 639.3 

Denmark 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

EPO  08727658.0 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

Spain 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

France 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

United 
Kingdom 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 

Case 2,121,204 

Ireland 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

India 01/14/2008 4328/DELNP/2009 Patented 
Case 325427 

Italy 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

Japan 01/14/2008 2009-545725 Patented 
Case 5562646 

Korea - South 01/14/2008 10-2009-7015983 Patented 
Case 1489337 

Mexico 01/14/2008 09/07465 Patented 
Case 300096 

Netherlands 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

Poland 01/14/2008 8727658 Patented 
Case 2,121,204 

WIPO 01/14/2008 PCT/US08/51013 Expired  
South Africa 01/14/2008 2009/04528 Patented 

Case 2009/04528 
 

32. OPEX is not currently aware of any other foreign counterparts to the ’601 Patent, 

whether issued, filed, denied, abandoned, or withdrawn. 
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3. Licensees to the ’601 Patent 

33. OPEX is not currently aware of any license rights in the ’601 Patent. 

B. U.S. Patent No. 8,276,740 

34. The ’740 Patent, titled “Material handling apparatus for sorting or retrieving items,” 

is properly assigned to OPEX. 

35. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.12(a)(9)(i)-(ii), certified copies of the ’740 

Patent and the assignment records for the ’740 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 2 and 7, 

respectively.2 

36. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(l), Appendix B contains one certified copy 

of the PTO prosecution history for the ’740 Patent plus three additional copies thereof. 

37. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Appendix G contains four copies of 

each patent mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’740 Patent.  There are no non-patent 

technical references mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’740 patent. 

38. The ’740 Patent was filed on January 30, 2012, issued on October 2, 2012, and 

expires on January 14, 2028.  The ’740 Patent is a continuation of the ’601 Patent, filed on January 

3, 2011, which is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, filed on January 14, 2008.  The ’740 

Patent claims priority to U.S. Provisional Application No. 60/884,766, filed on January 12, 2007. 

39. The ’740 Patent has 25 claims, including 3 independent claims (claims 1, 10, 18) 

and 22 dependent claims.  OPEX asserts claims 1-5 and 8-25 of the ’740 Patent against 

Respondents. 

                                                 
2 The assignment of the original application in the family, which ultimately matured into U.S. 
Patent No. 7,861,844, operates to assign OPEX the rights to all subsequent applications and 
resulting patents in the family, including all of the Asserted Patents.  A certified copy of the 
assignment records for the ’844 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 33.  
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1. Non-Technical Description of the ’740 Patent 

40. The ’740 Patent provides methods and apparatuses for sorting or retrieving items 

to/from a plurality of destination areas.  The items are loaded onto one of a plurality of 

independently controlled delivery vehicles.  The delivery vehicles follow a track that guides the 

delivery vehicles to/from the destination areas, which are positioned along the track.  Once at the 

appropriate destination area, an item is transferred between the delivery vehicle and the destination 

area. 

2. Foreign Counterparts to the ’740 Patent 

41. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the list of foreign counterparts 

relating to the ’740 Patent that are currently known to OPEX, whether issued, filed, denied, 

abandoned, or withdrawn, is included in the table above in Section III.A.2. 

42. OPEX is not currently aware of any other foreign counterparts to the ’740 Patent, 

whether issued, filed, denied, abandoned, or withdrawn. 

3. Licensees to the ’740 Patent 

43. OPEX is not currently aware of any license rights in the ’740 Patent. 

C. U.S. Patent No. 8,622,194 

44. The ’194 Patent, titled “Material handling apparatus for delivering or retrieving 

items,” is properly assigned to OPEX. 

45. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.12(a)(9)(i)-(ii), certified copies of the ’194 

Patent and the assignment records for the ’194 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 3 and 8, 

respectively.3 

                                                 
3 The assignment of the original application in the family, which ultimately matured into U.S. 
Patent No. 7,861,844, operates to assign OPEX the rights to all subsequent applications and 
resulting patents in the family, including all of the Asserted Patents.  A certified copy of the 
assignment records for the ’844 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 33.  
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46. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(l), Appendix C contains one certified copy 

of the PTO prosecution history for the ’194 Patent plus three additional copies thereof. 

47. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Appendices H and K contain four 

copies of each patent and the applicable pages of each technical reference mentioned in the 

prosecution history of the ’194 Patent. 

48. The ’194 Patent was filed on September 28, 2012, issued on January 7, 2014, and 

expires on January 14, 2028.  The ’194 Patent is a continuation of the ’740 patent, filed on January 

30, 2012, which is a continuation of the ’601 Patent, filed on January 3, 2011, which is a 

continuation of U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, filed on January 14, 2008.  The ’194 Patent claims 

priority to U.S. Provisional Application No. 60/884,766, filed on January 12, 2007. 

49. The ’194 Patent has 31 claims, including 4 independent claims (claims 1, 7, 10, 21) 

and 27 dependent claims.  OPEX asserts claims 1-10, 12-17, 19, and 20 of the ’194 Patent against 

Respondents. 

1. Non-Technical Description of the ’194 Patent 

50. The ’194 Patent provides methods and apparatuses for sorting or retrieving items 

to/from a plurality of destination areas.  The items are loaded onto one of a plurality of 

independently controlled delivery vehicles.  The delivery vehicles follow a track that guides the 

delivery vehicles to/from the destination areas, which are positioned along the track.  Once at the 

appropriate destination area, an item is transferred between the delivery vehicle and the destination 

area.   

2. Foreign Counterparts to the ’194 Patent 

51. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the list of foreign counterparts 

relating to the ’194 Patent that are currently known to OPEX, whether issued, filed, denied, 

abandoned, or withdrawn, is included in the table above in Section III.A.2. 
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52. OPEX is not currently aware of any other foreign counterparts to the ’194Patent, 

whether issued, filed, denied, abandoned, or withdrawn. 

3. Licensees to the ’194 Patent 

53. OPEX is not currently aware of any license rights in the ’194 Patent. 

D. U.S. Patent No. 10,576,505 

54. The ’505 Patent, titled “Material handling apparatus for delivering or retrieving 

items,” is properly assigned to OPEX. 

55. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.12(a)(9)(i)-(ii), certified copies of the ’505 

Patent and the assignment records for the ’505 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 4 and 9, 

respectively.4 

56. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(l), Appendix D contains one certified copy 

of the PTO prosecution history for the ’505 Patent plus three additional copies thereof. 

57. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Appendix I contains four copies of 

each patent mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’505 Patent.  There are no non-patent 

technical references mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’505 patent. 

58. The ’505 Patent was filed on July 19, 2018, issued on March 3, 2020, and expires 

on January 14, 2028.  The ’505 Patent is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 10,052,661, filed on 

June 9, 2017, which is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 9,687,883, filed on April 20, 2015, which 

is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 9,010,517, filed on January 7, 2014, which is a continuation 

of the ’194 Patent, filed on September 28, 2012, which is a continuation of the ’740 patent, filed 

on January 30, 2012, which is a continuation of the ’601 Patent, filed on January 3, 2011, which 

                                                 
4 The assignment of the original application in the family, which ultimately matured into U.S. 
Patent No. 7,861,844, operates to assign OPEX the rights to all subsequent applications and 
resulting patents in the family, including all of the Asserted Patents.  A certified copy of the 
assignment records for the ’844 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 33.  
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is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, filed on January 14, 2008.  The ’505 Patent claims 

priority to U.S. Provisional Application No. 60/884,766, filed on January 12, 2007. 

59. The ’505 Patent has 21 claims, including 2 independent claims (claims 1, 18) and 

19 dependent claims.  OPEX asserts claims 1-5, 7-9, and 11-21 of the ’505 Patent against 

Respondents. 

1. Non-Technical Description of the ’505 Patent 

60. The ’505 Patent provides methods and apparatuses for sorting or retrieving items 

to/from a plurality of destination areas.  The items are loaded onto one of a plurality of 

independently controlled delivery vehicles.  The delivery vehicles follow a track that guides the 

delivery vehicles to/from the destination areas, which are positioned along the track.  Once at the 

appropriate destination area, an item is transferred between the delivery vehicle and the destination 

area.   

2. Foreign Counterparts to the ’505 Patent 

61. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the list of foreign counterparts 

relating to the ’505 Patent that are currently known to OPEX, whether issued, filed, denied, 

abandoned, or withdrawn, is included in the table above in Section III.A.2. 

62. OPEX is not currently aware of any other foreign counterparts to the ’505 Patent, 

whether issued, filed, denied, abandoned, or withdrawn. 

3. Licensees to the ’505 Patent 

63. OPEX is not currently aware of any license rights in the ’505 Patent. 

E. U.S. Patent No. 11,192,144 

64. The ’144 Patent, titled “Material handling apparatus for delivering or retrieving 

items,” is properly assigned to OPEX. 
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65. Pursuant to Commission Rules 210.12(a)(9)(i)-(ii), copies of the ’144 Patent and 

the assignment records for the ’144 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 5 and 10, respectively.5 

66. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(l), Appendix E contains one copy of the 

PTO prosecution history for the ’144 Patent plus three additional copies thereof. 

67. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Appendix J contains four copies of 

each patent mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’144 Patent.  There are no non-patent 

technical references mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’144 patent. 

68. The ’144 Patent was filed on January 23, 2020, issued on December 7, 2021, and 

expires on January 14, 2028.  The ’144 Patent is a continuation of the ’505 Patent, filed on July 

19, 2018, which is a continuation of U.S. Patent No. 10,052,661, filed on June 9, 2017, which is a 

continuation of U.S. Patent No. 9,687,883, filed on April 20, 2015, which is a continuation of U.S. 

Patent No. 9,010,517, filed on January 7, 2014, which is a continuation of the ’194 Patent, filed 

on September 28, 2012, which is a continuation of the ’740 patent, filed on January 30, 2012, 

which is a continuation of the ’601 Patent, filed on January 3, 2011, which is a continuation of 

U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, filed on January 14, 2008.  The ’505 Patent claims priority to U.S. 

Provisional Application No. 60/884,766, filed on January 12, 2007 

69. The ’144 Patent has 19 claims, including 3 independent claims (claims 1, 10, 15) 

and 15 dependent claims.  OPEX asserts claims 1-19 of the ’144 Patent against Respondents. 

                                                 
5 The attached copies of U.S. Patent No. 11,192,144 (Ex. 5) and its assignment records (Ex. 10) 
and PTO prosecution history (Appx. E) are not certified copies.  OPEX will provide certified 
copies once it receives them.  Further, assignment of the original application in the family, which 
ultimately matured into U.S. Patent No. 7,861,844, operates to assign OPEX the rights to all 
subsequent applications and resulting patents in the family, including all of the Asserted Patents.  
A certified copy of the assignment records for the ’844 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 33. 
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1. Non-Technical Description of the ’144 Patent 

70. The ’144 Patent provides methods and apparatuses for sorting or retrieving items 

to/from a plurality of destination areas.  The items are loaded onto one of a plurality of 

independently controlled delivery vehicles.  The delivery vehicles follow a track that guides the 

delivery vehicles to/from the destination areas, which are positioned along the track.  Once at the 

appropriate destination area, an item is transferred between the delivery vehicle and the destination 

area.   

2. Foreign Counterparts to the ’144 Patent 

71. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), the list of foreign counterparts 

relating to the ’144 Patent that are currently known to OPEX, whether issued, filed, denied, 

abandoned, or withdrawn, is included in the table above in Section III.A.2. 

72. OPEX is not currently aware of any other foreign counterparts to the ’144 Patent, 

whether issued, filed, denied, abandoned, or withdrawn. 

3. Licensees to the ’144 Patent 

73. OPEX is not currently aware of any license rights in the ’144 Patent. 

IV. UNFAIR ACTS OF THE RESPONDENTS 

74. On information and belief, Respondents are engaged in the sale for importation, the 

importation, and/or the sale within the United States after importation of certain automated put 

walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control 

software, and component parts thereof including, without limitation, the Omnisort and its 

associated vehicles and component parts, that infringe at least one valid, enforceable claim of at 

least one of the Asserted Patents (collectively, “infringing articles”).  Respondents’ infringement 

of the Asserted Patents is direct infringement—by either literal infringement or under the doctrine 

of equivalents, and indirect infringement—by either induced or contributory infringement.  
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Respondents are aware of the Asserted Patents and their infringement at least due to OPEX’s 

virtual patent marking website, which disclosed all of the Asserted Patents except the ’144 patent 

as of April 28, 2020, and which disclosed the ’144 patent as of December 20, 2021 (See 

https://www.opex.com/patents/.)  

75. As described above and in the attached Declaration of John Sims (Exhibit 31C), 

OPEX is a pioneer in automated material handling with over 45 years in business and 

approximately 200 worldwide patents.  By comparison, Respondents are new entrants selling 

infringing products including the representative Omnisort product—a knockoff of OPEX’s Sure 

Sort and Perfect Pick domestic industry products—in violation of OPEX’s U.S. patent rights. 

A. Specific Instances of Infringement 

76. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(vii9), Exhibits 11-15 are claim charts 

demonstrating how the asserted independent claims of the Asserted Patents apply to Respondents’ 

representative Omnisort product. 

77. Exhibits 11-15 show that these representative Respondent products, and their use, 

are covered by at least the asserted independent claims of the Asserted Patents.  

78. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(x), Exhibits 11-15 contain drawings, 

photographs, or other visual representations of the representative Respondent products.  

79. Finally, Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(viii) requires that Complainant chart only 

“a representative involved article of each Respondent that violates Section 337.”  Nothing in this 

Complaint is intended to limit the scope of this Investigation to the representative Respondent 

Omnisort product.  In addition to the representative Respondent Omnisort product, OPEX believes 

that Respondents’ other automated put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, 

associated vehicles, associated control software, and component parts thereof, and their use, also 

infringe the Asserted Patents.  OPEX accuses such products of infringement and seeks remedial 

https://www.opex.com/patents/
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orders and a bond against Respondents’ sale for importation, importation, and/or sale after 

importation of those products as well. 

B. Specific Instances of Sale for Importation, Importation, or Sale After 
Importation 

80. Each Respondent is engaged in the sale for importation, importation, and/or sale 

after importation into the United States of certain automated put walls and automated storage and 

retrieval systems, associated vehicles, associated control software, and component parts thereof 

that infringe, or are used to infringe, at least one valid and enforceable claim of at least one 

Asserted Patent. 

81. Pursuant to Commission Rule 201.12(a)(3), the following evidence establishes that 

Respondents sell for importation, import, and/or sell after importation into the United States the 

representative Omnisort product depicted in Exhibits 11-15.   

82. Exhibit 18 is a copy of an importation record from importgenius.com showing 

shipment of an Omnisort item sorting machine between Shipper HC Robotics and Consignee 

Invata, originating from a port in Shanghai, China and arriving at a port in Long Beach, California 

on July 4, 2021.  This importation record shows that the shipment arrived in Long Beach, 

California on July 4, 2021 and the quantity shipped was “15 PKG,” indicating that Respondents 

ship and import the Omnisort in individual component parts or modules as described elsewhere 

herein.   

83. Exhibit 32 is the Declaration of Staci Dresher, a licensed private investigator in the 

State of California.  Ms. Dresher’s declaration details how, in September of 2021, she personally 

spoke to Invata’s Vice President of Sales, who told Ms. Dresher that Invata had recently made its 

first U.S. sale of its automated put wall solution to a customer in San Francisco, California, and 

the product was scheduled to “go live” on October 10, 2021.  Based on the importation record 
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showing a shipment of an Omnisort system from HC Robotics to Invata, delivered at Long Beach, 

California on July 4, 2021 (Ex. 18) and Invata’s website advertising only one automated put wall, 

Ms. Dresher concluded that the Invata automated put wall sold and installed in San Francisco in 

or around October of 2021 was an Omnisort.  Invata’s Vice President of Sales also told Ms. 

Dresher that Invata had “four to six” additional U.S. customers who were scheduled to “go live” 

with their Invata automated put wall systems in the first half of 2022.  The information in Ms. 

Dresher’s declaration thus confirms that Respondents have sold for importation, imported, and/or 

sold after importation into the United States, the representative Omnisort product, and will 

continue to do so absent appropriate Commission intervention and remedial orders. 

84. Additionally, Exhibit 29 recaps the 2020 Modex tradeshow, held on March 9-12, 

2020 at the Georgia World Congress Center in Atlanta, Georgia.  Modex touts itself as the world’s 

premier supply chain trade show.  Exhibit 29 recounts, with photographs and diagrams, that 

Respondents demonstrated the Omnisort product at the 2020 Modex tradeshow.  And Exhibit 30 

is Invata’s page from the Modex 2020 Exhibitor Directory website, showing that Invata was an 

exhibitor at Booth #9408 at Modex 2020.   There, Invata stated that it would showcase, at Modex 

2020 in Atlanta, “TOUCHLESS ECOMMERCE FULFILLMENT in action where we will be 

showcasing a fully automated, no touch put wall, robotic pick and place processing, and automated 

mobile robotics for use in shelf-picking, conveying, and sorting.”  (Exhibit 30.)  On information 

and belief, this description refers to the Omnisort system, which, on information and belief, Invata 

demonstrated at the 2020 Modex tradeshow.  Since the Omnisort is manufactured abroad by HC 

Robotics, on information and belief, the Omnisort product that Invata demonstrated at the 2020 

Modex tradeshow was imported into the United States by Respondents for this demonstration. 
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85. Thus, Respondents are violating Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 by selling 

for importation, importing, and/or selling after importation into the United States the representative 

Omnisort product and other automated put walls and automated storage and retrieval systems, 

associated vehicles, associated control software, and component parts thereof, which infringe the 

Asserted Patents. 

V. HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE INFORMATION 

86. The articles subject to this complaint are classifiable under at least the following 

headings and subheadings of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) of the United States: 

• 8428.90.0290:  Other lifting, handling, loading or unloading machinery (for 
example, elevators, escalators, conveyors, teleferics): Other machinery, 
Other. 

87. These HTS numbers are illustrative only and are not intended to restrict the scope 

of this investigation. 

VI. RELATED LITIGATION AND PATENT OFFICE PROCEEDINGS 

88. Concurrently with the filing of the original complaint, OPEX will file a complaint 

in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, alleging infringement 

of the Asserted Patents and certain additional OPEX patents against the Respondents in a similar 

manner to that alleged here. 

VII. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 

89. OPEX’s Warehouse Automation products allow companies to maximize their 

warehouse space and manage peaks in demand without relying on additional labor, by providing 

scalable robots and automated warehouse management systems.  OPEX’s Warehouse Automation 

products and solutions include: 

• iBOT®: a multi-directional, intelligent, self-charging, wireless vehicle effectively 

transporting up to 80 pounds of inventory to and from picking and sorting locations. 
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• Perfect Pick® and Perfect Pick® HD: a self-contained, standalone picking robot 

designed to add aisles and iBOT® robotic warehouse picker vehicles to increase storage 

and throughput as needed, with Cortex™ equipment control software, which keeps track 

of tote and cell inventory and utilizes color-coordinated, pick-to-light order progress 

indicators for accurate order fulfillment.  The Perfect Pick® and Perfect Pick® HD 

products and their associated iBOT® vehicles are referred to collectively as “Perfect 

Pick®” in this Complaint. 

• Sure Sort® and Sure Sort® XL: a cost-effective small-item robotic sorting system in a 

single-pass put wall, easily scalable by adding expansion modules and iBOT® robotic 

warehouse picker vehicles to the automated put wall, which allows quick and accurate 

processing of up to 2,400 items per hour with only three operators.  The Sure Sort® and 

Sure Sort® XL products and their associated iBOT® vehicles are referred to collectively 

as “Sure Sort®” in this Complaint.  

90. Based on OPEX’s domestic activities with respect to its Sure Sort® and Perfect 

Pick® products and their associated iBOT® vehicles (the “Domestic Industry Products”) 

described below and in the attached Declaration of John Sims (Exhibit 31C), a domestic industry 

exists or is in the process of being established pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2)-(3). 

A. § 337(a)(3)(A)—Significant Investment in Plant and Equipment 

91. As described in the attached Declaration of John Sims (Exhibit 31C), OPEX has 

made and continues to make significant investments in plant and equipment related to the 

Domestic Industry Products.  In fact, as described by Mr. Sims, all of OPEX’s engineering, 

manufacturing, and production facilities and equipment for making the Domestic Industry 

Products are located in the United States, and OPEX dedicates significant square footage and 
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associated lease costs in the United States to engineering, manufacturing, and production of the 

Domestic Industry Products.  Finally, as also described by Mr. Sims, OPEX expects to maintain 

or increase its significant investments in plant and equipment related to the Domestic Industry 

Products going forward. 

B. § 337(a)(3)(B)—Significant Employment of Labor or Capital 

92. As described in the attached Declaration of John Sims (Exhibit 31C), OPEX has 

made and continues to make significant investments in labor and capital related to the Domestic 

Industry Products.  In fact, as described by Mr. Sims, all of OPEX’s engineering, manufacturing, 

production, installation, commissioning and integration, and service and repair employees for the 

Domestic Industry Products are located in the United States, and OPEX employs significant labor 

in the United States for engineering, manufacturing, production, installation, commissioning and 

integration, and service and repair of the Domestic Industry Products.  Finally, as also described 

by Mr. Sims, OPEX expects to maintain or increase its significant investments in labor and capital 

related to the Domestic Industry Products going forward. 

C. § 337(a)(3)(C)—Substantial Investment in Engineering, Research and 
Development, or Licensing 

93. As described in the attached Declaration of John Sims (Exhibit 31C), OPEX has 

made and continues to make substantial investments in engineering, research, and development 

related to the Domestic Industry Products.  In fact, as described by Mr. Sims, all of OPEX’s 

engineering space and engineering employees for the Domestic Industry Products are located in 

the United States, and OPEX employs substantial resources in the United States for engineering 

of the Domestic Industry Products.  Finally, as also described by Mr. Sims, OPEX expects to 

maintain or increase its substantial investments in engineering, research, and development related 

to the Domestic Industry Products going forward. 
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D. Technical Prong 

94. OPEX’s representative Sure Sort® product (and its associated iBOT® vehicles) 

practices at least the following claims of the Asserted Patents: 

Asserted Patent Claims Practiced by Sure Sort 

United States Patent No. 8,104,601 1-28 

United States Patent No. 8,276,740 1-25 

United States Patent No. 8,622,194 1-31 

United States Patent No. 10,576,505 1-21 

United States Patent No. 11,192,144 1-19 
 

95. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(ix), Exhibits 19–23 include charts that 

apply an exemplary claim of each Asserted Patent to OPEX’s representative Sure Sort® product 

(and its associated iBOT® vehicles).  OPEX asserts that all of its Domestic Industry Products 

practice at least one claim of each of the Asserted Patents. 

VIII. REQUESTED RELIEF 

96. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, OPEX requests that the Commission: 

• Institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to Respondents’ violations of Section 

337 based on the sale for importation into the United States, the importation 

into the United States, and/or the sale within the United States after importation 

of articles that infringe the Asserted Patents; 

• Schedule and conduct a hearing on permanent relief pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 

1337(d) and (f) of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended; 
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• Issue a Limited Exclusion Order specifically directed to each named 

Respondent, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d), excluding from entry into the 

United States articles that infringe the Asserted Patents; 

• Issue a cease and desist order pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f) prohibiting each 

Respondent from engaging in the unlawful importation into and/or the sale 

within the United States after importation of articles that infringe the Asserted 

Patents, as well as activities encouraging and/or supporting such importation 

and/or sale; and 

• Impose a bond upon each Respondent that continues to import infringing 

articles during the 60-day-Presidential review period per 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j); 

and 

• Issue such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper 

under the law, based on the facts determined by the investigation and the 

authority of the Commission. 
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December 21, 2021 Respectfully submitted, 

_____________________________________ 
Paul Bondor 
Ryan Dowell 
Desmarais LLP 
230 Park Avenue 
New York, NY 10169 
Telephone: 212-351-3400 
Facsimile: 212-351-3401 

Goutam Patnaik 
David J. Shaw 
Desmarais LLP 
1701 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Suite 200 
Washington, DC 20006 
Telephone: 202-451-4900 
Facsimile: 202-451-4901 

/s/ David J. Shaw



VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT 

1. In accordance with 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(1), I, David J. Shaw, declare as follows:

2. I am outside counsel to OPEX Corporation and am duly authorized to sign this

Complaint. 

3. I have read the Complaint and am aware of its contents.

4. The Complaint is not presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to

cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of the investigation or a related 

proceeding. 

5. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief founded upon reasonable

inquiry, the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions therein are warranted by existing law or 

by a nonfrivolous argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the 

establishment of new law. 

6. The allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if

specifically so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for 

further investigation or discovery. 

7. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America

that the foregoing is true and correct. 

December 21, 2021 
_____________________________________ 
David J. Shaw 
Counsel for Complainant OPEX Corp. 
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